1941

Thomas E. Ludlow, Earl Ludlow aka T. E. Ludlow,
Edward B. Selene, Rufus Anderson, Margaret D.
Hanson, aka Mrs. Heber Hanson, John Angus,
Maylan Carter, Edward M. Beck, aka Reed Beck,
Paul E. Swartz, Edward Ludlow, and John Anderson
v. Colorado Animal By-products Company : Brief
of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

The original complaint in this action was filed August 18, 1937. Ten persons were named as plaintiffs; two corporations and four individuals personally and doing business under an assumed name were named as defendants. Each plaintiff claimed a cause of action against each defendant.

The demurrer filed by this appellant was overruled, (Tr. 176) and defendant answered. This answer was filed November 15, 1938. Thereafter and on the 2nd day of March, 1939, an amended complaint was filed (Abs. 2), with twelve plaintiffs joined, each alleging a separate and distinct cause of action against each of said defendants. This appellant demurred to the amended complaint (Abs. 15) and after the overruling of said demurrer by the Court (Abs. 23) filed its answer to the amended complaint on March 27, 1939 (Abs. 23).

After the case had been tried on its merits, a memorandum decision was filed (see Abs. 259) dismissing the action as to three plaintiffs and all of the defendants, except only the appellant. Injunctive relief was denied the remaining plaintiffs but the Court retained jurisdiction over the remaining plaintiffs, nine in number, and permitted them to further amend their complaint. Thereafter and on June 22, 1939, a supplemental complaint was filed (Abs. 27) in which there were the nine remaining plaintiffs joined, together with two of the former plaintiffs against whom the action had been dismissed, against

the appellant as the only defendant. (see Abs. 259). Demurrer (Abs. 39) was likewise filed to the supplemental complaint and overruled (Abs. 46) and a motion to strike the paragraphs of the supplemental complaint relating to the two plaintiffs against whom the action had previously been dismissed (Abs. 45) was denied (Abs. 46) and an answer to the supplemental complaint was filed on July 3, 1939. (Abs. 47).

After the trial on the supplemental complaint, the action of Edward M. Beck, otherwise known as Reed Beck, was dismissed for the second time (Abs. 402), and judgment was rendered in favor of the remaining ten plaintiffs, including the plaintiff Maylan Carter, against whom the action had previously been dismissed.

The complaint as filed (Abs. 2) alleges that the plaintiffs are the owners in severalty of "homes, yards and farms" situate in a locality "distant from general traffic and industrial manufacture where the inhabitants are chiefly engaged in farming and agricultural pursuits," and at a distance of from five rods to half a mile from the property of the defendant; that "this locality has for more than fifty years last past been distinguished as a residential and farming section"; "that said locality is especially valuable for residential purposes."

It is then alleged in the complaint that the defendant manufactures fertilizing materials and other animal by-products, from which operations odors float over the

property of plaintiffs and into their homes, rendering the same unfit for residential purposes, thereby diminishing the market value of the homes and land of the plaintiffs. The prayer is for an injunction.

The appellant's answer (Abs. 23) denied the material allegations of plaintiffs' complaint and alleged (Abs. 26) that because of the nature of the community, the defendant's rendering plant was a necessary aid to the comfort of the community in disposing of carcasses and offal that was exposed on the surface and permitted to rot; that the lands of the plaintiffs and defendant are industrial rather than residential properties; that they are contiguous to the main line of the Oregon Short Line Railroad Company, in a location where there are a peavinery, a sugar factory, and feed yards for live stock; that the defendant had operated its rendering plant for five years prior to a fire, and rebuilt it after the fire in the same location; that the plaintiffs' actions are barred by laches and the statute of limitations; (Par. 11 answer of def. trans. p. 53) (Par. 9 answer to amend complaint Abs. 27); that some of the plaintiffs moved upon the lands in the vicinity of the plant and constructed homes thereon since the defendant commenced operations. Appellant further alleged that there is a misjoinder of parties plaintiff and a misjoinder of causes of action, and that there is a defect in parties plaintiff, because there are many persons other than the plaintiffs directly interested in the ownership of the properties alleged to be affected.

The case came on for trial on the 3rd day of April, 1939 (Abs. 49). On the 7th of June, 1939 (Abs. 384), the Court made its memorandum decision in which the Court found, made and entered findings of fact and conclusions of law (Abs. 392), wherein the Court concludes that the plaintiffs are not entitled to have the defendant enjoined from operating the plant, but plaintiffs should be entitled to recover damage for loss or injury suffered and to be suffered by them as owners of the homes or lands adjacent to defendant's plant. The Court retained jurisdiction and permitted the parties to amend their pleadings (Abs. 259, 393), and to put in additional evidence upon the question of damages to which plaintiffs might be entitled.

On the 17th of October, 1939, the cause came on for hearing on the supplemental pleadings, and additional evidence on the question of damage was adduced (Abs. 260).

Whereupon the Court adopted its findings and conclusions of June 7, 1939 (Abs. 393), and then entered findings with reference to damage in each of the ten separate cases.

Appellant will now discuss each of the ten causes of action separately.

THOMAS LUDLOW testified (Abs. 57):

His occupation is farming, cattle and sheep; his home is located 200 rods west and 10 rods north of defendant's plant; he has 40 acres with a home, garage, three chicken coops, barn and

wash house; the fair, reasonable market value of his lands with improvements is \$10,000 (Abs. 58).

(It is alleged in the complaint that his property is worth \$12,000 (Abs. 4, 29).

He gets the odors from the plant maybe two days a week (Abs. 58); it is an unpleasant smell; none of his family has been sick from it (Abs. 59); he has manure on his farm (Abs. 94); the house is forty years old (Abs. 95), worth \$2,500; the barns, chicken coops, etc. \$1,500; the barn is probably 150 feet from the house; part of the barn yard is between the house and the barn; cows are kept in the barn yard; the manure is cleaned out twice a year and hauled away once a year; Exhibit 4 is a part of his yard (Abs. 96); dead sheep are burned on his place and dead horses and cows go to defendant's plant; he has pelted as high as 50 sheep in one or two days; defendant's Exhibit 3 looks like a place on the ranch; there are dry bones from three head of sheep; Exhibit 11 pictures the improvements around his home (Abs. 97); Exhibit 12 shows his barn; there could be dead sheep in the corral; the odor of manure is not offensive to him (Abs. 98); Earl Ludlow's yard, Exhibit 10, is 40 rods from his house; he hauled 426 tons of beets last year; he takes all the pulp from the sugar factory; the beet pulp has an unpleasant odor; it bothers people a little; it doesn't bother him; the defendant's plant used to be a brick yard; the brick yard and the sugar factory were running at the same time (Abs. 99); the center of population of Benjamin is one-half mile south and a mile west from his home; he sold carcasses to the

defendant; neighbors' animals are picked up as soon as they are dead and hauled over to the defendant (Abs. 100); the last two years he has sold the defendant three horses, a cow, and a calf and has disposed of sheep which died in the last two months (Abs. 101); the beet pulp is beneficial to him; all the beef feeders feed it (Abs. 102); he has 200 loads of manure on his place at one time; he feeds 2,000 head of sheep, 40 head of beef; his business is feeding live stock (Abs. 253).

On this evidence of the plaintiff the Court awarded this plaintiff \$1,360 (Abs. 396), more than 50% of the original value of the home which is more than 40 years old.

EARL LUDLOW testified:

He feeds stock; his home is 200 rods northwest from defendant's plant; he has 20 acres (Abs. 130); the odors from the plant occur every time they get a breeze from the east (Abs. 131); Exhibit 10 is a picture of his barn yard; the stuff in the foreground is manure; he has sold appellant a few pelts; he has bought three sacks of tankage and fed it to his pigs, 300 feet from his house; where they feed this tankage it smells (Abs. 132); he gave \$6,000 for this farm of 20 acres fourteen years ago to his father; he thinks it is now worth \$9,500; his four children, his wife and himself are healthy; they have never called a doctor on account of the smell; he paid his father at the rate of \$300 an acre for this land (Abs. 133).

In the complaint it is alleged that his property is worth \$7,000 (Abs. 7, 30). On this testimony the Court allowed Earl Ludlow \$920.00 (Abs. 397).

EDWIN B. (or Edward) SELENE testified:

He is a former employee of defendant, and worked in defendant's plant (Abs. 73); is now working for Mr. Greer, likewise a former employee of the company (Abs. 49), in a competitive business (Abs. 54, 55); acquired the property in 1931; the deed stated a consideration of \$3,000; he paid \$7,000 but this included water from the Strawberry Reservoir (Abs. 72); 17.69 acres; his land is 30 rods from defendant's plant; he is bothered by the odor and by the rats (Abs. 70); values his house at \$2,000 and his farm at \$200 an acre; his chicken coops, granary and barn are worth fifteen or sixteen hundred dollars (Abs. 74); eight shares of water worth \$100 a share; his present occupation is selling and handling pelts and hides; he maintains a pelt house in Salem; Exhibit 8 and 9 are pictures of his premises as now located (Abs. 75); he never called a doctor into his home on account of the odors (Abs. 73).

The Court awarded this plaintiff \$2,176 damage (Abs. 397) which represents more than one hundred per cent of the value of his home as fixed by himself (Abs. 74). Not the slightest damage was shown to his land or to his farm improvements. His farm is contiguous to the railroad right of way. When he moved away temporarily he had no difficulty in renting it. He testified his land grew just as large and abundant crops now as it did before the plant was there (Abs. 74).

The cause of action of Mr. Selene is essentially different from the cause of action of either of the Ludlows. Mr. Selene worked for the defendant and helped

build up its business as an employee in its present location in close proximity to his home. He is estopped not only from claiming the right to enjoin the business, but from claiming any damages at law on the business which, as an employee, he helped to establish.

Mr. Selene, as the principal agitator of this law suit, brought into the case his employer, Mr. Greer, and relied upon his testimony.

MR. GREER testified:

That he built the original plant for the defendant; he bought the land from the people who owned and operated it previously as a brick yard (Abs. 49); he helped build the defendant's plant in 1933; the plant continued until the fire (Abs. 50).

It was stipulated that the date of the fire was April 8, 1937 (Abs. 76).

The construction of the old plant was corrugated iron and cement; the new plant is brick and concrete; the cookers are the same kind of cookers as in the old plant and he thinks about the same capacity; the defendant has added entrail washers; outside of that the machinery and equipment is practically all the same; these odors arise from the cooking (Abs. 52); from 1934 to 1938 he bought pelts anywhere in the State of Utah he could and stored them in Salem; he worked six or seven years for defendant in a rendering plant before he came to Spanish Fork; after six years' experience as an employee of this defendant he

selected this old brick yard as a suitable site for the defendant to begin doing business (Abs. 54); within a year and a half after they started operations they actually started rendering carcasses in the Spanish Fork rendering plant (Abs. 55); Edwin Selene is working for him now on a commission basis (Abs. 56); the pea vinery is closer to the center of Benjamin than this defendant's plant; when he selected this site he personally took into consideration where the population of Benjamin was; it was in April, 1933 that he went there to locate this site (Abs. 57).

It is a singular thing that this first witness upon which the plaintiffs rely should have selected the site as a suitable site for the business of the defendant, and that all of the plaintiffs should have stood by from April, 1933 until the commencement of this action and rendered no complaint against the plant until two of the former employees of the plant should find themselves in competition with the appellant, one of them becoming the leading plaintiff and the other the leading witness. It is certainly to be inferred and to be argued that they would have no difficulty in inducing the rest of the plaintiffs to join them in this action when they held out the possibility of collecting damages against the defendant for something which had not otherwise bothered them all these years, arising out of the operation of a business which naturally adapted itself to the stock-feeding carried on in the neighborhood, and in part as an incident to the sugar factory and the pea vinery which produced the feed for the animals to be fed in the yards of the plaintiffs. Certainly the lower court erred in giving to the

plaintiff Edwin Selene more than one hundred percent of the value of the home, as fixed by the plaintiff himself, in damages, when the evidence of the plaintiff himself shows that the plaintiff was able to lease the home immediately upon his vacating the same (Abs. 73), with the plant present and in operation. Some value must be attributed to the home on account of this evidence alone, to say nothing of the evidence of the experts of the defendant as well as the plaintiffs.

The only possible conclusion that can be drawn from the amount of damage allowed by the Court to this plaintiff is that the Court allowed damages to the land, the chicken coops, the barn, pig pen and other outbuildings incident to the maintenance of the place as a farm in an industrial center, namely, a center for the feeding of live stock.

To allow damages to the land or any improvements other than the home is contrary to the evidence of the plaintiff himself. It is clear, therefore, that the damages allowed by the Court to this plaintiff were excessive and unreasonable, even were we to assume the right of this plaintiff to recover damages at all.

MARGARET D. HANSEN :

Heber Eugene Hansen, the son of the plaintiff, testified (Abs. 123) that there are nineteen and a fraction acres in this plaintiff's name and the remaining sixteen acres in the estate of Heber J. Hansen, deceased, not a party plaintiff. He

lives on this 35 acres and is now farming it; he is not a party to this action. The home is approximately eighty rods southwest from defendant's plant; the home is twenty eight years old; there is a barn, chicken coop, garage, coal shed, grain bins, thousand bushel granary, corrals and sheds; he has a full water right. He couldn't say how many shares of water belongs to his father's estate. The value of the lands and improvements is \$10,000 (Abs. 123). The odors come into his home; neither he nor his wife or children have been made sick by it; they are all well; it is intermittent and it is disagreeable (Abs. 124); he is bothered by rats and flies (Abs. 125); he purchases tankage from the defendant plant and feeds it to his hogs; he has sold an animal to the plant to be killed for fox feed. The home is worth \$5,000; the farm improvements \$2,100; the water \$3,000 (Abs. 126). He has been in the plant to use the scales of the defendant; from his home he smells the odor of the plant, and not the sump near the plant (Abs. 127). Exhibit 5 is a picture of the home; there is manure in the foreground (Abs. 128); his cattle have access to his whole yard at present; his pig pen is approximately five rods south of the water; the house is 200 feet from the corral and 300 feet from the pig pen; the pigs have access to the water in the corral shown in Exhibit 5; Exhibit 6 is a picture of the same corral; Exhibit 2 is the interior of the defendant's plant. Odors from the barn yard and pig pen never bother him; he has seen rat nests around his place (Abs. 129).

The Court allowed this plaintiff \$1,124.40 damage (Abs. 398). It is impossible to ascertain either from the findings or the decree what portion of this damage was

due to damage to the home, to the farm improvements, to the water rights, or to the land. This home of the plaintiff is about as far away from the plant as the home of Ludlow. In the Ludlow case the Court allowed more than 50% of the value of the home, and in this Hansen case the Court has allowed a little more than 20% of the value of the home, if we charge the entire amount of damage to the home itself.

If there is any difference in these two causes of action, it would seem that the advantage should go to the Hansen case rather than the Ludlow, because in the Ludlow case the plaintiff was really operating an industry of feeding more than 2,000 head of sheep and 40 head of cattle as a feed yard immediately adjoining his home. While it is true that the Hansens are raising live stock on their place, they have only twenty five acres, as against 40 acres of T. E. Ludlow, and could not accommodate as many cattle, but nevertheless their property is located within the same industrial area in which the feeding of live stock is the principal industry, operated in connection with the pea vinery, the sugar factory and the railroad.

The supplemental complaint describes 25.80 acres. The testimony of the son is that there are nineteen and a fraction acres belonging to the mother and sixteen acres to the father's estate. The Court makes no finding of fact as to how many acres there are upon which damages are allowed. In Finding of Fact No. 10 (Abs. 398),

the Court simply says that at the time of the trial of this case the value of the 25.80 acres of land etc. would be \$7,944. The Court no doubt took into consideration the value the son placed upon the thirty five acres, as well as the values placed upon the whole farm by the various witnesses testifying as to values. It cannot be determined from the findings upon what the damages of \$1124.40 are found to exist, or which of the thirty five acres the 25.80 acres are. Certainly under the evidence as it stands, the Court could not have awarded damage to the plaintiff on more than nineteen and a fraction acres. If the estate is to recover any damages on the sixteen acres, it would have had to be made a party to the suit. Living on the property the son suffered the injury the mother is awarded the damage. The son could still sue.

JOHN ANGUS testified:

He lives less than half a mile west of the defendant's plant; he has eight acres and rents eight acres; he has rented the eight acres adjoining the plant of the defendant for three years; he has a home, two chicken coops, granary, garage and blacksmith shop, a barn, and flowing wells. This is farming land; he grows hay, grain, sugar beets. The value runs from \$2,500 to \$3,000 (Abs. 87).

He purchased the property either in 1929 or 1930, paid \$535 for the land, 7.82 acres. Since 1933 at the time of the commencement of defendant's business he has built two chicken coops and a well on the property; they are now worth \$400; he did most of the building; the original lumber bill was \$300; the blacksmith shop was moved

onto the place four or five years ago; its present value is \$30 or \$50.

He started building a home in 1930; the home when it was completed had cost him \$1,250; it cost him \$350 to drive a well; electric lights cost \$120; there is nothing else to speak of (Abs. 89). He has five children, ages 24 to 9; they are all healthy; his wife and he are healthy. The rats in this vicinity breed in the grain fields around Benjamin; they are the kind of rats you see everywhere; the odor from the plant is stronger when they are cooking (Abs. 90); the smell which comes from the plant is a cooked smell (Abs. 91).

They had flies before the plant came; the flies are worse now; he has lived all of these years that this plant has been in operation and made these improvements; his family has continued to live there and grow up and be healthy (Abs. 93).

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