1941

Thomas E. Ludlow, Earl Ludlow aka T. E. Ludlow,  
Edward B. Selene, Rufus Anderson, Margaret D.  
Hanson, aka Mrs. Heber Hanson, John Angus,  
Maylan Carter, Edward M. Beck, aka Reed Beck,  
Paul E. Swartz, Edward Ludlow, and John Anderson  
v. Colorado Animal By-products Company : Brief  
of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

On page 93 of defendant's brief complaint is made because, as it is claimed, the trial court refused to permit it to offer evidence to show the sanitary condition of the plant. The difficulty with that contention is that it is contrary to the fact. In none of its rulings did the court deny defendant the right to show the condition of the plant. Mr. Warren E. Rasmussen testified that he is a veterinarian; that he visited the plant once. He did not inform the court as to what he found at the plant, but was asked whether or not the plant was sanitary. The court sustained the objection of plaintiffs to such question but expressly indicated to defendant that he might show the condition of the plant but that the witness Rasmussen was not permitted to give his opinion upon the question that the court must ultimately determine. Whereupon counsel for defendant apparently became peeved and did not attempt to further examine the



witness. It would seem obvious that it is not shown that the witness was competent to testify as an expert, and if he were his testimony would be of no probative value in the absence of a showing of the facts upon which his opinion was founded. If this Court will take the time and have the patience to read the voluminous transcript it will find that the trial court was very liberal and used the utmost care and patience in permitting the parties, especially defendant, to offer all evidence that might bear upon the question presented for determination, and likewise allowed a wide latitude on cross examination. If this Court can find the time and has the patience to read the transcript it cannot well avoid reaching the conclusion that much of the evidence received did not bear upon the issues raised by the pleadings and cannot well find any difficulty in concluding that the facts found by the court below are amply sustained by the evidence.

---

### THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE SUPPORTS THE DAMAGES AWARDED TO EACH OF THE PLAINTIFFS.

Before taking up a specific discussion of the evidence as it relates to the damages sustained by each of the plaintiffs a few general observations on the amount of damages common to all of the plaintiffs will serve to avoid repetition. On pages 61 and 62 of defendant's brief defendant makes the ingenious statement that plaintiffs' witness depreciated the value of the water rights of the plaintiffs a specified percent of the value thereof. The evidence does not support such contention. Plaintiffs' witness gave the amount of depreciation in the market value of the various properties without attempting to segregate the depreciation of the water from

the land. Indeed, it would be impossible to make the distinction.

While this record is silent as to whether the water is or is not appurtenant to the land, the fact remains that in this semi-arid region land without water is of little or no value. That is a matter of common knowledge, of which courts will take judicial notice. If the water were taken from the lands of the plaintiffs it would result in rendering such land practically valueless, and especially the homes built thereon. Nor is any practical purpose served by fixing the damage to the improvements on the farms of the plaintiffs as distinguished from the land itself. Indeed, in contemplation of law most of the improvements are a part of the land. It is true that as some of the witnesses testified, the improvements could be removed and used elsewhere. Nor is there any sound legal basis for the argument that the owners of lands upon which improvements have not been constructed are not entitled to recover damages.

One who goes upon his farming lands to work is entitled to the right to breathe air which is not polluted with obnoxious odors the same as is one who spends both day and night upon the land. If one desires to build a home on his land or sell it, for someone else to build a home thereon, he may not lawfully be precluded from so doing by one who is maintaining a nuisance which renders his land unfit for a home. In either event he is entitled to either have the nuisance removed or be compensated for the damages sustained by reason of the wrong. Defendant has cited no case or authority holding to the contrary and we seriously doubt that one can be found in the books where any such doctrine is announced. The cases in this jurisdiction heretofore cited are to the contrary.

It is a cardinal principle of law that one who is wrongfully injured is entitled to redress. If the wrong cannot be prevented by injunction the injured person is entitled to money compensation. This case was, as we have heretofore pointed out in this brief, tried and determined on the theory that plaintiffs are entitled to recover the amount that they are damaged by reason of the wrongful acts of the defendant. The measure of damages according to the law announced by this Court in the cases heretofore cited is the depreciation in the market value of plaintiffs' property caused by the wrongful acts of defendant. Indeed, in the absence of injunctive relief there is no other way of redressing the wrong.

These plaintiffs are farmers. Most of them live upon their farms. Those who do not may well conclude to do so were it not for the fact that the nuisance caused and maintained by defendant makes it impossible to live upon the land in comfort. If any of them conclude that they can no longer bear the stench emanating from defendant's plant they may, as they have a right to do, sell their lands and the improvements thereon at such a price as can be obtained, which price by a clear preponderance of the evidence, will be at a very substantial amount less than could be secured if defendant were not maintaining its nuisance. It is not our contention that plaintiffs are entitled to recover unless the evidence shows that defendant is guilty of maintaining a nuisance. We concede that in the absence of a showing that defendant has committed a wrong recognized as such by law, plaintiffs are not entitled to recover, and by the same token, plaintiffs contend that if a wrong, that is, a nuisance has been, now is and will in all probability be maintained by the defendant, the plaintiffs are

entitled to redress. That the defendant having failed and refused to so use its property as not to be a nuisance and insisted on continuing indefinitely to maintain a nuisance and plaintiffs having been denied injunctive relief, they are entitled to redress by the only means open to them, to recover damages for the injuries sustained, the measure of which is the depreciation in the market value of their property occasioned by defendant maintaining the nuisance complained of.

In this connection it may be noted that there is a fundamental distinction between a case where in an action involving a nuisance plaintiffs are denied injunctive relief because a nuisance has not been shown by the evidence, and a case where injunctive relief has been denied because plaintiffs have not acted timely, or where a court of equity deems an injunction will needlessly penalize the wrongdoer without a corresponding benefit to the complainant, and where the complainant may be compensated in damages. It may readily be conceded that if a cause fails because a nuisance has not been shown damages may not be recovered because in such case the defendant has done that which he has a legal right to do. That, however, is not this case. Here the court found, and under the evidence and its own observation it could not well avoid finding that a nuisance has been and will be maintained indefinitely. Defendant having succeeded in escaping injunctive relief, not because of its right to do what has been and will be done, but in spite of the fact that it has and will continue to invade plaintiffs' right, must respond by paying such damages as flow from its wrongful act. That, as we have heretofore pointed out in this brief, is plaintiffs' theory and that is the doctrine announced by this Court in the *Kinsman*, *Thackery*, and other cases heretofore cited.



With these general observations we shall proceed to a specific discussion of the evidence as it affects the various plaintiffs.

---

## DAMAGES SUSTAINED BY THOMAS LUDLOW

Mr. P. P. Thomas testified that in his opinion the home of Thomas Ludlow had a value of \$2500.00 in the absence of the maintenance and operation of defendant's plant; that the other improvements had such a value in the sum of \$1156.00 and the land \$8,000.00; that the damage to the home of Mr. Ludlow was \$500.00, to the improvements \$230.00, to the land \$800.00, making a total of \$1530.00. (Tr. 856; Ab. 263).

C. E. Hawkins placed the value of the Thomas Ludlow home at \$3500.00, his barn and lean-to at \$500.00 and his land at \$200.00 an acre. He gave it as his opinion that the odor from defendant's plant depreciated the improvements on the Thomas Ludlow property twenty-five percent, which would amount to \$1,000.00; to the land ten percent. Thomas Ludlow owned forty acres of land, which at \$200.00 an acre would be \$8,000.00, ten percent of which is \$800.00, making a total of \$1800.00 damages to the Thomas Ludlow property, according to Mr. Hawkins. (Tr. 949; Ab. 295-6).

Lawrence E. Johnson placed the value of the Thomas Ludlow land at \$200.00 per acre and its depreciation in value ten percent, which for the forty acres would amount to \$800.00. He did not testify about the improvements.

Thomas M. Anderson placed the appraised value of the Thomas E. Ludlow property with the presence of defendant's plant as follows: The home \$3,000.00; the other improvements \$800.00; the

value of the land \$200.00 per acre. He placed the depreciation of the home and other improvements at twenty percent and the depreciation of the land ten percent, making a total of \$1560.00. Thomas E. Ludlow gave it as his opinion that the fair reasonable value of his farm and improvements at this time is \$10,000.00. He testified at considerable length as to the odors at his home, but gave no testimony as to the amount that his property was depreciated in value on account of defendant's plant.

The trial court awarded damages to Thomas E. Ludlow in the sum of \$1360.

---

#### DAMAGES SUSTAINED BY EARL LUDLOW

P. P. Thomas testified that in his opinion the home of Earl Ludlow was of the value of \$2,000.00, his other improvements \$800.00, his land \$200.00 per acre, or \$4,000.00, making a total value of \$6800 without the defendant's plant; that the damage to the home was \$500.00, to the improvements \$160, to the land \$400.00, making total damages of \$960.00. C. E. Hawkins placed the value of the home at \$3,000.00, the other improvements \$800.00 and the land of the value of \$200.00 per acre. Mr. Hawkins placed the depreciation of the improvements at twenty-five percent and the land at ten percent, making as a total of depreciation on account of the maintenance of defendant's plant to the property of Earl Ludlow, \$1350.00.

Thomas M. Anderson placed the value of the Earl Ludlow home at \$3,000, the other improvements at \$600.00 and his land at \$200.00 an acre. He depreciated his home and improvements at twenty percent of their value, or \$900.00, and the land



\$400.00, or a total of \$1300.00. Lawrence E. Johnson placed the value of the land of Earl Ludlow at \$200.00 per acre and that the presence of the plant depreciated it ten percent, or a total of \$400.00.

The trial court awarded damages in the sum of \$920.00.

---

### DAMAGE SUSTAINED BY EDWIN B. SELENE

P. P. Thomas testified that he placed the value of the home at \$1500.00, the out buildings at \$805.00, the land at \$200.00 per acre, or \$3538.00, or a total value of the property without the plant at \$5843.00; that the value of the land and home and improvements with the plant is \$2665.00, a total depreciation of \$3,179.00. (Ab. 262).

Charles E. Hawkins testified that the value of Mr. Selene's home without the plant is \$2200; the out-buildings \$800.00, the land \$200.00 per acre; that the plant depreciated the value of the improvements seventy-five percent and the land fifty percent (Ab. 291), thus according to Mr. Hawkins' testimony the property was depreciated because of the plant in the sum of \$4869.00.

Thomas M. Anderson placed the value of the Edwin Selene home without the plant at \$2,000.00 and the other improvements at \$800.00, and the land at \$225 per acre. He testified that the improvements on Mr. Selene's land were depreciated in value one hundred percent on account of defendant's plant and the land thirty percent. Under Mr. Anderson's evidence Mr. Selene was damaged in the total sum of \$3993.77.

Mr. Selene testified the value of his property was \$7,000 (Ab. 70) but did not testify as to the de-

preciation in its value on account of defendant's plant.

Lawrence C. Johnson placed the value of Mr. Selene's land at \$225.00 per acre and that the plant had depreciated its value one-third, or \$1326.42. He did not testify about the improvements. The court awarded Mr. Selene judgment for \$2176.00.

---

#### DAMAGES SUSTAINED BY MARGARET D. HANSEN.

P. P. Thomas placed the value of the home of Mrs. Margaret D. Hansen at the sum of \$3,000.00 and the improvements at \$800.00 and the land at \$200.00 per acre, or \$5160.00. He placed the depreciation of the home and other improvements by reason of defendant's plant, at \$760.00 and to the land, \$516.00 (Ab. 263) or a total of \$1276.00.

Charles E. Hawkins placed the value of Mrs. Hansen's home at \$3,000.00 and other buildings at \$800.00 and the land at \$175.00 per acre. He placed the depreciation on account of the plant on her improvements at twenty percent and on the land fifteen percent, (Ab. 294), making a total of \$1437.00.

Thomas M. Anderson placed the value of Mrs. Hansen's home at \$3,000.00 and other improvements at \$800.00 and the land at \$200.00 per acre. He placed the depreciation of the improvements at thirty percent and the land at fifteen percent (Ab. 315), making a total depreciation of \$1554.00.

Lawrence C. Johnson placed the value of Mrs. Hansen's land at \$225 per acre and the depreciation on account of defendant's plant at twenty per-

cent (Ab. 329) making the damage to the land alone \$1161.

Heber Eugene Hansen placed the value of the property at \$10,000. The trial court fixed the damage of Mrs. Hansen at \$1124.00.

During the course of his testimony, Eugene Hansen testified that the home, together with nineteen acres and a fraction stood in Margaret D. Hansen's name and the remaining 16 acres stood in the name of his father, Heber J. Hansen, who is dead. Defendant in its brief at page 51 calls attention to that testimony and then points out that the Hansen property was depreciated less than the property of Earl Ludlow which was twice as far away from the plant and about the same as the Thomas E. Ludlow property which was also nearly twice as far from the plant. It may be that the damage to the Hansen property was considerably greater than that fixed by the court, because of the fact that sixteen acres of that property stood in the name of Heber J. Hansen, deceased.

It also appears that the prevailing wind in the locality of the plant comes from the east and moves towards the west; that the odors are conveyed by the wind. The Ludlow properties are west of the plant while the Hansen property is to the south of the plant. If it be contended that Mrs. Hansen could not maintain an action for damages to the property which stood in her husband's name, such contention must fail. Upon the death of Heber J. Hansen the surviving widow became the owner in her own right of an undivided one-third interest in the same. She thus had a right to maintain the action even as to the property standing in the name of Heber J. Hansen. Moreover, the defendant did not in the court below raise the question of the incapacity of Margaret D. Hansen to maintain the

action as to the property which stood in the name of her deceased husband.

The law is well settled that

“ordinarily defendant waives the objection that plaintiff is not the real party in interest where he fails to raise it or fails to raise it at the proper time, as by demurrer or answer, and instead of objection on this ground answers to the merits. Although there is authority to the contrary, the objection may be waived by conduct indicating express content that the suit proceed.”

46 C. J. 191.

The case of

Cole v. Utah Sugar Company, 35 Utah 148;  
99 P. 681,

supports the view that a defendant claiming that the cause is not prosecuted by the real party in interest can only be taken advantage of by demurrer or answer, and if not so taken is waived.

Page 154 of 35 Utah.

The defendant in this case proceeded with the trial as though Mrs. Hansen were the real and sole party in interest, without in any way indicating that it had any objection on that ground. In such case the defendant waived any objection that it may have had to Mrs. Hansen prosecuting the action.

Cronk v. Crandall, 121 N. Y. S. 805.

Sandee v. Tschider, 205 Fed. 252.

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